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CONCISE GUIDE:
COMPLIANCE AND COMPANY SECRETARIAL PRACTICE OF
HONG KONG PRIVATE COMPANIES

Andrew Tsang
Natalie Chan

Concise Guide: Compliance and Company Secretarial Practice of Hong
Kong Private Companies is a user-friendly and concise reference guide for
all company secretaries, practitioners, and business professionals in regards
to the changes and up-date practice of running a privately-owned company
here in Hong Kong brought about by the principle laws and rules dictated by
the (current) Companies Ordinance (Cap.622).

This publication does its best to illustrate company secretzrel practice and
compliance in an easy-to-digest format - analysis ot =harts, checklist
tables, and Q&A sessions demonstrating common cas& scenarios.

This publication offers a clear illustration of evervday scenarios regarding
company secretary practice at private compar ies, including:
(i) summaries of the applicable prorzdines in charts /diagrams;
(i) essential points formation;
(iii) checklist tables to indicate i 7e relevant company secretarial proce-
dures and practice; and
(iv) Q & A sessions at the ena of each chapter to demonstrate the most
common case scenanws that Hong Kong private companies may
COMme across.

Authored for boin cofessionals and students - each can find answers
regarding con. any secretarial procedures of private companies under the
current Companies Crdinance easily and as there is no need to digest a
whole passage of each chapter to locate the answers.
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310 CHAPTER 3
A. Directors

I. Board of directors

IL. Types of directors

.

A company is an artificial person, therefore a human beings,
required to run and manage the company =
Previously, company should have at least 2 directors
But nowadays, a private company can have 1 director since 13
under the Companies (Amendment) Ordinance 2003 passed by
Council of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region on 2 J ul
A company (companies within a listed group, public compan :
limited by guarantee) must have at least 2 directors who should
co_rporate (s5.453(2) and 456(2) of the Companies Ordinancéf
Private companies must have at least one director (s.454(1) offh !
Ordinance (Cap.622)) 4
Priv?te company not within a listed group can have any numby
but it must have at least one natural person as director (5.4
Companies Ordinance (Cap.622)) .
Role and functions of Director:
= is an _agent of the company, the company is the principal
is actn}g as a trustee of the company’s money and property
a{.:ts within the scope of authority (as expressed in articles of‘
his service contract with the company, Companies Ordinanét; :
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap.571), the Rules G .
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong K.
(HKEx) (the Listing Rules) (for listed company) ete. o: in
common law), otherwise, may be ultra vires
Seldom act singly, should act jointly by board of directors (n
to the company which has only sole director) but severally aj
liable for the act done by the board of direciars
‘Any person occupying the position aid tazk of director by wi
name called e.g. Chief Executive Ofiicer, Manager, President |
Exercise Top-level management functions :
scollectively responsible and accountable to the company’s men
and stakeholders for the long-term success of the company b

Its powers may not be delegated unless articles of assol
association authorized

Executive or non-executive director:
Executive Director

e Normally works on full-time basis
Enter into service contract with the company and is an em
the company (however, term should not be more than 3
listed companies/companies incorporated in Hong Kong,
need shareholders’ approval) (s.534 of the Companies O :
(Cap.622); LR13.68 of the Listing Rules)

@
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Hold some executive and managerial position

Responsible for the day-to-day operation of the company

. Usually in public and listed companies

Non-Executive Director

Not full-time basis

Usually not an employee

Not involved in the daily management of the company

Should attend board meeting and comimittee meeting regularly

especially for listed companies/public companies

Require specific term for appointment of listed companies (i.e. not

more than 3 years)

Receive a small amount of fees, i.e. director’s fees (FEFHHEE)

which should be recommended by remuneration committee of the

company and subject to the approval of shareholders of the company

at annual general meeting

Provide advice in area of expertise, determine overall policies and

contribute to decision-making of the board

Usually stand for the interest of non-controlling interest shareholders/

minority shareholders, employees and other stakeholders

Usually in listed companies/public companies

A.6.2 of Corporate Governance Code of Appendix 14 of the Listing

Rules states his/her duties

Independent Non-Executive Director

Listed companies must have at least 3 independent non-executive

directors (INEDs) (LR 3.10 of the Listing Rules) and at least one

of INEDs must have appropriate professional qualifications or

accounting or related financial management expertise and at least one-

third of the board should be INEDs (LR 3.10A of the Listing Rules)

Purpose is to invite independent views as to balance the composition

of the board

In assessing their independency (details referring to LR 3.13 of the

Listing Rules)

hold less than 1% shares

no financial interest or interest in business with the company

not protect the interests of an entity other than the shareholders’

interest as a whole

» not receive any interest in any securities of the company as a
gift, or by means of other financial assistance, from a connected
person or the company

» not provide any service directly to the company or an employee

of the service provider to the company within 1 year before his/

her employment

not current or past executive of the company

not connected with a director, chief executive or substantial

shareholder of the company within 2 years

not financially dependent on the company or any member of the

group or core connected persons of the listed company

o

2

o

]

o
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° Members of remuneration and nomination commiy
company should comprise a majority of INEDs (LR 3
Rules and A.5.1 of Code Provision of Appendix 14 of the

° Audit committee of the listed company must compris
of three members, all of whom are non-executiyve
(LR3.21 of the Listing Rules)

= de facto director

— although not formerly appointed if he/she undertakeg
expected of a director

« shadow director (RE/8 2 5)

— in relation to a body corporate, means a person in accordance v

directions or instructions (excluding advice given in a professign

like lawyers, qualified accountants) the directors, ora majority o

of the body corporate are accustomed to act (s.2 of Companies

—  VivendiSA and Centenary Holdings Ltd v Murray Richards

Bloch [2013] EWHC 3006: The High Court ruled a sha
normally owes fiduciary duties to a company where he

instructions on which the directors are accustomed to act '

» alternate director
— official appointment of a person to act on behalf of that d
that director is unable to act at any time
the procedure of appointment of alternate director is s .
director (Form ND2A - Notification of Change of Sec
Director (Appointment/Cessation)) (Appendix 3A)
— adirector can delegate his authority to an alternate ¢:-ector if:
¢ this is authorised by the articles of associaticr; or

o the authority to do so is included in the terms of appointme

° issubject to all common law and statitory duties owed by
(s.478(2) of the Companies Ordirance (Cap.622))

° the appointing director is vicariously liable for torts ({
committed by his alternate (s.478(1)(b) of the Companies!

= (Cap.622))
* E.g. defamation of the other director by the alternat

the board meeting; misstatement at the meeting caused

in loss of profit, etc., the appointing director is liab

done by this alternate director

* mnominee director
— major investors/principals to appoint/remove certain directd
represent his/her interests on the board of directors

—  Professional firm assigns its persons to act as nominee directors of

* Reserve director (s.455 of the Companies Ordinance (Cap.622))
— For a private company which has only one member who i
sole director, a reserve director (at least 18 years old) can be

in a general meeting and act in the place of the sole di

event of his death (Form ND5 - Notice of Change of Reserve L

11101
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N omination/Cessation) (s5.645(2), 645(3), and 645(4) of the CDmpanie':s
Ordinance (Cap.622)) (Appendix 3B); Form ND7- Notice of Change in
particulars of Reserve Director (s.645(4) of the Compames. Ord{nance
(Cap.622)) (Appendix 3C); Form ND8 — Notice of Remgnat}on of
Reserve Director) (ss.464(3), and 464(6) of the Companies Ordinance
(Cap.622)) (Appendix 3D)) | |

[n Hong Kong, due to traditional view, a sole director who is also the
sole member seldom appoints a reserve director so as to avoid taboo

. (Corporate director - | |
A director is a corporation rather than an individual, usually is nominee

director provided by the professional firms, like Certified Public
Accountants, legal/solicitors firms .
_ A body corporate cannot be a director of a listed company or of its
subsidiaries (for the purpose tomaintain the benefit of public shareh(.)l.ders/
aublic interest since body corporate has its features of limited liability)

(I Powers of the directors

“The board of directors has the powers to direct the management of the

company and delegate powers to committees or individual directors to carry

out the companies’ activities and daily operation

. Director’s powers are collective and not individual

7' Powers conferred on directors by articles of association of the company

or Schcdule 1 (for public company) and Schedule 2 (for private company)

under Cap.622H which is the Companies (Model Articles) Notice .

+ Directors may exercise all such powers as they are not, by Companies

Ordinance or by articles of association, required to be exercised by shareholders

+ Only altering the articles by shareholders can control the exercise of the

powers vested in the directors

« Limitation of director’s powers in the articles

— Transaction or act binds company despite limitation in articles under
5.117 of the CO: “...the power of the company’s directors to bind the
company, or authorize others to do so, is to be regarded as free of any
limitation under any relevant document of the company.”

— No constructive notice of matters merely because it is disclosed in:
(a) the articles of a company kept by the Registrar; or (b) a returmn ot
resolution kept by the Registrar (CO s.120)

V. Ultra Vires act done by directors

* Under common law, u/fra vires means Latin for “beyond powers,” and in
the law of corporations, referring to acts of a corporation and/or its officers
outside the powers and/or authority allowed a corporation by law (Law.com
at http://dictionary.law.com/Default.aspx?selected=2181)

* Director exercises the authorities delegated to him/her through the
~ company’s articles of association/service contract and/or board of directors
— Not to act beyond without authority
— An act in excess of the authority granted constitutes a breach of duty
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Such an act is invalid unless and until r

of the company

¢ Note: Under common law, shareholders/members can
by directors of their fiduciary duties. Ratification
company is prohibited from instituting actiong again;[nt; '
d{rector for damages in respect of the ratified breach |
dls§entmg minority shareholder may still be able tq P i
Prejudice or statutory derivative claim under commgh
c?nﬂicts of interests may occur if a majority Sharehu er
director, or is connected to a director. However, such Ta ]
detriment the interest of minority sh

: : areholders. In Hong
companies are family based. The shareholders are also the

the company. As such, ratification can often occur,
Otherwise, the director is personal 1
such an act

"
atified by memberg/ an P o alification and Disqualification of directors

. Qualifications of director
_ A body corporate cannot act as director of a company unless it is a
private company that is not a member of a listed group of companies
_  w.e.f 3 March 2014, company must have at least one director who is a
natural person (5.457(2) of the Companies Ordinance (Cap.622))
— Individual aged 18 or above (s.459 ofthe Companies Ordinance (Cap.622))
—  Must not be bankrupted (5.480 of the Companies Ordinance (Cap.622)) w
. Disqualifications of director
— under Part IVA of the Companies (Winding-Up and Miscellaneous

Provisions) Ordinance (Cap.32) (“CWUMPO”)

o Section 168E of CWUMPO — committed an indictable offence
involving fraud or dishonesty relating to the promotion, formation,
management, liquidation or management of company’s property

o Section 168F of CWUMPO — persistently in default relating to filing
of any return, account or other documents with Companies Registry

o Section 168G of CWUMPO - guilty of an offence under 5.275 of
CWUMPO (responsibility of directors for fraudulent trading) in the
course of winding up (intent to defraud creditors)

o Section 168L of CWUMPO — the court may make a disqualification
order against the director, who is liable for all or any of the debts or
other liabilities of a company, where the court makes a declaration
under 5.275 of CWUMPO

= Section 168H of CWUMPO — the court will make a disqualification
order against a person that: (a) he/she being a director of a company
which has become insolvent; or (b) histher conduct as a director
makes him/her unfit to be concerned in the management of a company

o Section 1681 of CWUMPO - in the public interest that a
disqualification order under s.168H of CWUMPO should be made
either by the Financial Secretary or the Official Receiver

¢ Section 168] of CWUMPO — the Financial Secretary may apply to
the court for a disqualification order that it is in the public interest
such an order be made against the director or shadow director of any
company under 8.879(6) of the CO

#.lm‘.

iable for any 10ss inggpe

V. Ratification of directors’ conduct under the Companies Ordinance (¢,

Th.e Companies Ordinance (Cap.622) s.473 imposes ney
ratification of conduct of directors involyin g negligence, defa

duty or breach of trust (“Relevant Acts™) by resolutions ;f memberg
A member who is a director in respect of the Relevant Acé :
Cfmnected with that director, or holds shares in the company in v
director or entity shall not vote, but can attend the meeting, car, &
towards the quorum of that meeting and can take part in th:e ')'r'cf;:

VL. Prohibiting directors being protected from liability ag

alast company
The Companies Ordinance (Cap.622) 5.468(2) provides that if a p
a.company’s articles of association or contract hetvieen the com
d1rect.or purports to exempt that director from bty in relation to the gon
resulting from negligence, default, breach orauty of trust, the provisic
The Companies Ordinance (Cap.622) s 468(3) ’ ohi
mcl.ude indemnity provided by an associated co

VII. Indemnification of directors against liabilities to third parties

°

— under the Model Articles of Cap.622H
° Article 27 (Schedule 1)/Article 25 (Schedule 2), office of director
shall be vacated if:
= becomes bankrupt or makes any arrangement with creditors
*  ceases Lo be a director under the Companies Ordinance (Cap.622),
disqualification order made under Part IVA of the CWUMPO, or
is prohibited from being a director under the law
= unsound mind
* Resigns office by notice under 5.464(5) of the the Companies
Ordinance (Cap.622)
= Absent more than 6 months without directors’ permission from
directors’ meetings being held
= removed by ordinary resolution

The ‘ Companies Ordinance (Cap.622) s.469(2) allows the
pI‘OV.lded to a director against liability to a third party if the indemnif '
provided against:
(a) any liability of the director to pay a fine in criminal pr
a penalty for non-compliance with a regulatory requiremen

(b) any liability incurred by the director in defending criminal
or civil proceedings brought by the company, its associated
members of them in which the director is convicted or loses th
The Cc?mpanies Ordinance (Cap.622) s5.470 to 472 require
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IX. Appointment of directors

Company should notify Companies Registry the place where those
* Founder member(s) to the memorandum of association often 4 registers are kept
first directors (3.68(1)(c) of the Companies Ordinance (Cap,szzj,

— Within 15 days after date of incorporation, Form NNC.I (Ince .
Form filed with Companies Registry for appointment of ﬁi-: ]

and Directors and consent to act as a Director)(Appendix 3E}

*  Subsequent appointment subject to articles of association :
= Article 22 of Model Articles (Schedule 2) provides for
appointment of directors ;
°Appointed by ordinary resolution; or by a decision of th

. °  Fill a casual vacancy, or appoint an additional director g o
the total number of directors must not exceed the maxim:

of directors fixed in the articles of association '

¢ Newly appointed director must retire from office at the

general meeting

> Subsequent change of Directors/their particulars, F

(Notification of Change of Comparny Secretary and Directg

be submitted to Companies Registry within 15 days

Long-term service contract

Section 534 of the Companies Ordinance (Cap.622) requires the
approval of the members of a company for any contracts under which
the guaranteed term of employment of a director with the company
exceeds or may exceed 3 years

— disinterested members’ approval is required

Company rules governing the re-election of directors in annual general
meeting under Model Articles Samples C and B of Cap.622H
_  Company rules governing the re-election of directors in annual general
meeting — Articles 23-25 (Schedule 1 Model Articles Sample C of
public company limited by shares), Articles 22-23 (Schedule 2 Model
Articles Sample B of private company limited by shares)
o Model Article Sample C
« Article 23(1)(a) and Article 23(2) (Schedule 1) — A director
appointed by ordinary resolution is subject to Article 24
= Articles 24(1), 24(2), and 24(4) (Schedule 1) — At the first annual
general meeting, all directors shall retire from office. At every
subsequent annual general meeting, one-third of directors for the
time being, or, if their number is not 3 or a multiple of 3, then the
number nearest one-third, shall retire from office
= Article 33(2) (Schedule 1), managing director is not subject to
retirement by rotation and not taking into account in determining
the rotation of retirement of directors
= Articles 24(5) and 24(6) (Schedule 1) — The directors to retire in
every year shall be those who have been longest in office since
their last election, but as between persons who became directors
on the same day those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree
among themselves) be determined by lot
= Article 25 (Schedule 1) — A retiring director shall be eligible for
re-election
= Article 24(12) (Schedule 1) — The company may from time to
time by ordinary resolution increase or reduce the number of
— prepare the minutes to record the appointment of a director directors, and may also determine in what rotation the increased
~ vl a Form ND2A to the Companies Registry within 15 or reduced number is to retire from office
theappaintues ' - Articles 23(1)(b), 23(3), and 23(4) (Schedule 1) — The directors
= .submlt-a Form NDS5 to the Companies Registry in case a reserved shall have power at any time, and from time to time, to appoint
15 HOnTHREed any person to be a director, either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
update the company’s register of directors to record the appo additional to the existing directors, but so that the total number
= add_ the new director as one of bank authorized signatories, if of directors shall not at any time exceed the number fixed in
notify the bankers, customers and suppliers regarding thenewlya 1 accordance with these articles. Any director so appointed shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting,
and shall then be eligible for re-election but shall not be taken into
account in determining the directors who are to retire by rotation
at such meeting

* Appointment of directors by separate resolutions

— Section 460 of the Companies Ordinance (Cap.622) provides | &
appointment must be made by a single resolution (for public *
D

and company limited by guarantee)

A composite resolution (i.e. a motion to appoint two or MOore r.c
directors by a single resolution) may be made provided that az?
that it shall be so has first been agreed to by the meeting
vote being given against it ]

¢« Procedures for appointment of director
— check the articles of association of the company reg
requirement of appointment of a director
— disclosure of interests in contracts, trausactions and a
any others before the board meeting, if any, by the appointed
convene board meeting to approve the appointment
— execute consent to act as director by the appointed director
~ prepare a service contract of director, if any

= Register of directors
— Every company should keep at its registered office a registero Fdi
and secretaries, which should be opened for inspection by an

(no charge) and other person (payment on small amount)

FRRRRRRRRRR R RN
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° Model Article Sample B

* Articles 22(1)(a) and 22(2) (Schedule 2) — unlegg .
specified, a director appointed by ordinary IESO]uﬁm %
Article 22(1)(a) holds office for an unlimited period of i. :

= Articles 22(1)(b), 22(3), and 22(4) (Schedule 2)—a directy
appointed by a decision of the directors and under Attigle
and may only be made to: (a) fill a casual vacancys; or (b) gy
director as an addition to the existing directors if the tota]
of directors does not exceed the number fixed in aceg
these articles. A director appointed must: (a) retire from
the next annual general meeting following the appointmmt;
if the company has dispensed with the holding of annyg

meetings or is not required to hold annual general meetings
from office before the end 0f 9 months after the end of the com
accounting reference period by reference to which the fi
year in which the director was appointed is to be determineq

Article 23 (Schedule 2) — a retiring director shall be. eligible f
re-election .

X. Resignation of directors

May resign his/her office any time, unless provided in the articles of assqg;

Company should submit Form ND2A within 15 days of the
(5.464(3) of the Companies Ordinance (Cap.622))

Section 464 of the Companies Ordinance (Cap.622) provides that ticr agi
director may submit to the Companies Registry a Form ND4 . Avpendix ]
to inform the Companies Registry and the public of his/he- resignation

Procedures for resignation of directors

— check the articles of association of the cojapany regarding the
requirement of resignation of a director

acknowledge receipt of the resignation letier by directors

check outstanding matters needed to be handover by the resignation direclor

conVene board meeting to approve the resignation

prepare the minutes to record the resignation of a director

submit a Form ND2A to the Companies Registry within 15 days after

the resignation

update the company’s register of directors to record the resignation

delete the resigned director as one of bank authorized signatories, ifrequired

notify the bankers, customers and suppliers re garding the resignationin

any manner, like the publication of an advertisement

XI. Removal of directors

By ordinary resolution remove a director before his/her period of office
expires (5.462(1) of the Companies Ordinance (Cap.622)) ‘
Director of a private company who has been appointed for life on/before

31 August 1984 cannot be removed (5.462(2) of the Companies Ordinance
(Cap.622))

&

or by service contract (s5.464(1) of the Companies Ordinance (Cap.ﬁfll}g O
resigns, gy
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irector may sue the company for damages of breach of contract (s.463(6)
Direc ; .
anies Ordinance (Cap.622)) . .
[ Cli:rlihould send special notice to remove a director or to a}?p()mt
4 mellol:)dy in place of the director to be removed at the general meeting to
e “ .
L red office (5.462(4) of the Companies Ordu'mnce) _ '
reglﬁte 578 of New Companies Ordinance provides that a special 1}otlce
. Seaﬁi given to the company at least 28 days before a general meeting at
S - .
mE'ch the intended resolution 1s to be con51dell'ed _ )
‘g : any should then send a copy of the notice to the director concerne
omp : :
f the Companies Ordinance) -
$ﬁ46ii(363030r concerned is entitled to be heard alt annual general meeting/
eera] meeting (5.463(2) of the Companies Ordme_mce) .
_E}TT; director concerned is entitled to malke written representations to
° i i}

embers in manner as described in s5.463(3) and 463(4) of the Companies
. ;

rAdniance .
S 1d a copy of representations to every members or the director concerned

read out at the meeting

s for removing directors . ' ‘
. Pmcedm:z:eipt of a special notice of an intended ordinary resolution to
on r

move a director, send a copy of such notice to the director co.ncemed
I::)nvene and hold a board meeting to authorise the convening of a
[ i f a notice
neral meeting and the issue o ' - -
chtion 548(6) of the Companies Ordinance: a physical me.etmg mu_st
be held to consider the intended removal, so the concerned fi]rector will
have right to make oral representation in the general meeting before a
vote is taken .
_ despatch a notice of the general meeting to those members who are
ntiE‘lLled to attend the meeting and to the director concerned at least
e

14 days before the meeting o '
—  pass eym ordinary resolution sanctioning the removal of the director

ed in the general meeting . - o
= zzg;fll;n a Form ND2A to the Companies Registry within 15 days after
the passing of the ordinary resolution (Appendix 3A.) - o
—  delete the removal director as one of bank authorized signatories, if
ed |
- ;Zcéxg:he company’s bankers, suppliers efc. of the removal of the director
such as by publication of advertisements in newspapers
— update the company’s register of directors to record the removal

XIL Fair dealings by directors
. sration of directors . .
Tenj:ft;cie 28 (Cap.622H Schedule 1)/Article 26 (Cap.622H Sche_dule 2)
the remuneration of directors shall be determined by company in annual
| meeting/general meeting ‘ -
- gzzfifil ;1;2 of t%\/eg Companies Ordinance — emoluments fully dlsclosa_ed in
financial statement laid before annual general meeting/general meeting
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Compensation for loss of office
Section 521 of the (o

€ capacj
other than frust £ PACILY as frygteq

r the p
‘ : o0se
cheme o 5 Pension schepse: E)Hrp i

* (D aperson acting :
: ting in the capac
Ordinance (Cap.38)) o i’ CIty as partner (yngey Pl

Of'a specj
an employ

for the followi

e

Ng payments Smbers approval is re
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must not make quasi-loans or enter into credit transactions, in favour
of a director of the company or of its holding company unless with the
prescribed approval of members . _
» Quasi-loan (s.493 of the Companies Ordinance) means
= A person makes a quasi-loan to a director or an entity connected
with a director if the person—
* (a) agrees to pay, or pays otherwise than pursuant to an
agreement, a sum for the director or connected entity—
(i) on terms that the director or connected entity (or
another person on behalf of the director or connected
entity) will reimburse the person; or (ii) in circumstances
giving rise to a liability on the director or connected
entity to reimburse the person; or
* (b) agrees to reimburse, or reimburses otherwise than
pursuant to an agreement, expenditure incurred by another
person for the director or connected entity— (i) on terms
that the director or connected entity (or another person on
behalf of the director or connected entity) will reimburse
the person
= Credit transaction (defined under s.494 of the Companies
Ordinance):
¢ the supply of goods under a hire-purchase agreement;
*  the sale of goods or land under a conditional sale agreement;
¢ the lease or hire of goods or lease of land to a director or his
connected entity in return for periodical payments; and
*  the supply of goods or services or disposal of land to a director
or his connected entity on the understanding that payment is
to be deferred
Section 496 of the Companies Ordinance — defines “prescribed approval
of members” as “an approval obtained by a resolution of those members:
¢ (a) that is passed before the transaction or arrangement is entered
into; and
> (b) in respect of which the requirements below are met:
* (i) for written resolution, a memorandum setting out designated
relevant matters is sent to members before the resolution; or
* (ii) for general meeting, a memorandum together with notice of
the general meeting is sent to members, and the resolution is
subsequently passed
The prohibitions on loans are extended to a body corporate controlled by
a director of the company or of its holding company and the prohibitions
on quasi-loans and credit transactions are extended to entities connected
with a director of the company or of its holding company
Connected entity is defined in 5.486 of the Companies Ordinance as
quoted above
Members unanimous consent before the transaction will be available
for the company to validly enter into such transaction without breaching
such prohibition
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o

o

-]

o

o

Section 513 of th :
# ¢ Companies Ordinance —. ¢i
contravention RAE SN

Exce_:ptl:ons to the above prohibitions:
= (i) ifthe aggregate of the value of transaction d
* (a) value of the company’s net asset, or -
* (b) the company’s called-up share ca;)ita[
Ordinance);

(ii) Fhe funds are used to meet expenditure. ; 1
meurred by a director, on defending } ;nclttred.
connection with an investigation or rega‘u’gz[’;:c‘g&Eﬂ

and 508); however must be made on conditio - .

concerned will repay the company if he/she ?lthat“'
to have committed the misconduct: o
(1ii) home loan (on the condition: (a) fc;r main residentis
(b) termf; not more favourable than those granttlad?mal: ”
entered into by the company in its ordinary co o
(¢) avaluation report done by a professionally ]111‘ 181; ¢
surveyor within the preceding three rnonths:q oj‘ tlim1
(d) purchase of the residential premises is secur de'
mortgage), leasing goods and land (terms not m o
than those offered to unconnected persons on the o fa
total expenses for home loan and leasing good b

_ exc_:eedmg 10% of net asset or called-up c:slpital)(sS 5351_5[ y

(iv) in ordinary course of business (the company is : 9311@ &
and loan terms not more favourable than thosemonw O
person of the same financial standing but LmCOI]I]E:(ir >

5 ;qn;fany) and intra—g_ro.up transaction (ss.511 and 312 1
or e purpose of providing finds to the directors o mee
expenditure, e.g, expenses incurred during bt‘sme;s. trips :

(5.505 Ofthe gy,

o

il consequenc

U 3 .

: r;der the Companies Ordinance, erim#.ai sanctions no longer

I? reaches of the prohibitions in ss.500 to 504 :
4 company enters into a transaction in contravention of
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and to indemnify the company for any loss resulting from the

{ransaction or arrangement (s.513(2)):
a director of the company, or of a holding company of the
for whom the company entered into the transaction or

company,
arrangement;
. a body corporate controlled by such a
entity of such a director, for whom the company entered into the
{ransaction or arrangement;
the director of the company who controls such a body corporate
or with whom such an entity is connected;
. the director of a holding company of the company who controls such
a body corporate or with whom such an entity is connected; and
any other director of the comparny who authorised the transaction

director, or a connected

or arrangement

Defences
For a controlled body corporate or connected entity of a director

« TJtis a defence if it establishes that, at the time the transaction
or arrangement was entered into, it was not aware of the
circumstances constituting the contravention (5.513(4)(a))-

. For the director of the company (and its holding company) who
controls the body corporate or with whom the entity is connected

+ It is a defence if the director establishes that he took all
reasonable steps to secure the company’s compliance with
the relevant provisions (s.513(4)(b)).

« For any other director of the company who authorised the
transaction or arrangement

+ Tt is a defence if the director establishes that, at the time the

transaction or arrangement was entered into, he was not aware

of the circumstances constituting the contravention (s.513(4)(c)

”fﬁ_w‘ following summarizes the prohibition of loans and similar credit transactions
‘which subject to certain exemptions as stated above:
R

‘prohibitions, the transaction is voi

unless: on 15 voidable af the compan® oans including Private Companies Public Companies and

= restitution is no longer possible: provision of securities or its subsidiaries and

v the com , i’ guarantees) and related Companies limited b
transactiii?r ifjar?geziel:ﬁemmﬁed for loss resulting from i | credit transactions Guarantee) !

= a third party (other tha_r; the director. i ?_mes to directors of prohibited unless prohibited unless
corporates or connected entities) h A Coni?'ollc;d  Hong Kong company/ approved by shareholders approved by disinterested
rights for value and without actljal netlasti:; (;gf(') ‘31d e ‘holding company of the company/by shareholders/by
and those rights would be affected by the avoid ] co.nl:rav directors or body shareholders of the disinterested shareholders

= the transaction is affirmed by the sharehold : an;eilor . corporates (including company and its holding and its holding company’s
and/or the holding company (as applicable) :.Sﬂ_f’_ foe CoEs | non-Hong Kong company shareholders disinterested shareholders
period after it is entered into in accordance i:vtl}? : ;TQ £ ‘companies) controlled by | (if holding company isa | (if holding company is a
Companies Ordinance 1h 5. those directors/holding Hong Kong company) Hong Kong company)

__| company directors

Whether or not the transaction has been avoided, the follo
persons will be liable to account to the company fo; any gain n
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i “BOARD OF DIRECT
oans including Pri i
B vate Compani < - T .
provision of securities or PRt 'Pubhc Compy, Ambit of disclosure of material interest by directors
guar-antees) and related its subsidia_,.i@': _ (i) has added “transaction” and “arrangement” to “contract” and
credit transactions Companieg Jj add “extend” to “nature” of interest (ss.536(1) and 536(2) of the
2 | Loans to connected not prohibited Guarant_ee) ' Companies Ordinance)
entities of directors/ & Prohibited ypjegy _ (i) for public companies, 5.536(2) of the Companies Ordinance also
connected entities of approved by -dis" requires & director to disclose material interest of entities connected
holding company directors S}-la.reholdergfh?" with that director
disinterested gy, _ That director who is interested in a transaction, arrangement or contract
and its holding ¢ | of the company should not take part in the decision-making process about
disinterested shyy the matter. That means that he/she should not be counted in the quorum

(iholding Gmﬁ and vote at the meeting which considers the transaction, arrangement
: or contract (Articles 15, 16 (Schedule 1)/Articles 16, 17 (Schedule 2))

3 | Quasi-loans to directors/ | not prohibited Hong Kong coy ;
holding company’s p e prohibited mﬁes's' _  Under s.536(1) of the Companies Ordinance, where a director is in
directors approved by disip any way directly or indirectly interested in a transaction, arrangement

shareholdersjby.. | or contract or proposed transaction, arrangement, or contract with the

disinterested sh company, he must declare {he nature of his interest (if it is material)

and its holding el o« Contract: significance in relation to the company’s business

disinterested share o Timing: at the earliest meeting of the directors at which it is

(ifholding comm% - practicable for him to do so before the company enters into
transaction (s.537 of the Companies Ordinance)

4 | Hong Kong comp

4 | Quasi-loans t =
0 connected | not prohibited prohibited unless O Method (5.538 of the Companies Ordinance):

A declaration of interest must be made:

entities of directors/
connected entities of tpproved by s g . directors’ meeti
holding company’s shareholders and ij, Y HeRdisamns mEstng
direstors pany holding co mpa‘.}\-f‘:-: < ~* by notice in w1.'iting sent to the other directors; or
disinterested ~harehol * by general notice
(if holding .,;)-mpan'};,,g »  Where a declaration of interest is to be made by notice in writing
: i . to the directors:
5 | Credi : Hong Kang company
.t transactions not prohibited bt _p 5 *+ it must be sent:
for directors/holding prehibited unless in hard copy form by hand or post; or
com e !aogcoved by disinteres vy : . . L.
pany’s directors i 5hr y disinter - - in electronic form if the recipient has agreed to receive it
arehol ders/disiie by electronic means; and
sharchold it R
. holding C:Irj F:llld_:m +  the making of the declaration will be regarded as forming
Foiripe) dl:; b a{ eix ﬁil;[ :ef lt;u; ﬁlcii:eedmgs at the next directors’ meeting after the
(if holdin, is
s o Hong Kofgczggan}“% = A peneral notice is a notice to the effect that the director:
redit transactions for not prohibited = bany. +  has an interest in a body corporate or firm specified in the
prohibited unless notice and is to be regarded as interested in any transaction,

COT]I]GCted entities Df a Y
. 1 g l
ppl‘DVBd b dlSJIltﬂ X |

directors/connected
entities of holding shareholders/disinterest corporate or firm; or
+ is connected with an individual specified in the notice and is

company’s directors
to be regarded as interested in any transaction, arrangement
or contract that is entered into with that individual

shareholders and its
holding company’s
disinterested sharehold
g{z 201 I(i(m g company ls, _ = A general notice must state:

g Kong company) +  the nature and extent of the directot’s interest in the specified

body corporate or firm; or
+ the nature of the director’s connection with the specified

individual
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expirati i i
Piration of his period of office. Since the auditors and direct
o CHAPTER 5

have their rights either to make wri
o iy itten representations ¢ i
dir presem;; ;lietzhxeholders or to make oral representatio?nzcsmu-ls
Corp_orate o ¢ shareholders during the genera) meeti Om;e;-—_-
o ?;1:1 }tfozig;d channel for the removed audit, -
- . nismanagement or unfair
g_;);?;an;snomglance B.rleﬁng Notes on Part 12: Coﬂpany Administrag
) g ompamfes Registry website at http- i
ce/brleﬁngnotes_mdex.htm). g

' SHARE CAPITAL AND LOAN CAPITAL,
" REGISTRATION OF CHARGES

tion of ‘Capital’
webster quoted legal Definition of capital as follows:
lated assets (as maney) invested or available for investment as:

so0ds (85 equipment) used to produce other goods; or
tocks) used to create income

Di . ; .
. ésll;e;:.::l?:; v:t:oholdmg the z'umual general meeting — Companies O
i e z]\;:f;né/ to dlspe.nse with the requirement to h:lc? i
o e ;81 resolution or a resolution at g general meg ‘an .
gD d (3), even thcnllgh the company is not re ui hng
rdance with 5.610 in respect of 4 financial yeciu- Tt;‘itﬂ e aefines
, ‘ {etiona ehned:
v‘]')(,l:ﬂu m;};ey and possessions, especially a large amount of money used for

within the period speci ;

pecified in 5.431. S : ]
et i Ordinance Brie od i1 g more wealth or for starting a new business
dictionary at http:/!www.bus'messdictionary.{:om/deﬁnition/capital.html

capital as:

pil;alhe form of money or assets, taken as a sign of the financial strength of
vidual, organization, or nation, and assumed to be available for development
yestment
unting: M
nomics: Factors of production that are used to ¢

emselves in the process

Proxy and corporate representative - C

sy an ] - Completed proxy fi (

moréat[rllzns“rgeilj[tlerze:ﬂofﬁ.ce not less than 48 hours Eefoﬁe fh?nggnbe d ]

e ol t:‘_ 1t was demanded, at [east 24 hours before thegt' ¥ ﬂ

bl Casé ; rding to s.59§(3), multiple proxies are allowed i
Ol a company having a share capital. Besides, a coipoi:ti

oney invested in a business to generate income
reate goods or services and are

Company Law (1998)

ital refers to both the share capital and loan capital
¢ to the funds that a company raises through the issue of shares

e capital refe
ity financing)

an capital is borrowed money obtained by the issue of debentures (debt financing
also include borrowing direct from financial institution)

References:
é. Companies Ordinance (Cap.622) Kinds of Capital Referred to in
3' giﬁfnmﬁ Cc‘);fnpanies (Model Articles) Notice i mpanies Opdmanes (Cap.622)
i anies (Winding- -
4. Key Chan (Winding-Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordi : : ; ; .
ges under the Companies Ordinance (Cap.625), Charms, o a2) oo orised copial”
: » Lharltons Solicitors + issued capital

* paid-up capital
uncalled capital
luation reserve, share premium

* reserve capital/reserve liability (property reva
reserve*, translation reserve, goodwill, negative goodwill, retained profits)

*abolished on 3/3/2014

charltonslaw.com
; gﬁmar(!}l-Webster’s Learner’s Dictionary
. es Governing the Listi iti

Limited g Isting of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong :

7. C §
£ s Stc([)i? a?nnz.:éceovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs
] L S prepared by Andrew T i

lecturin W Isang and Natal i hei

ng (CGVB410, CGVB 897) at the Open Universitl;/e o?;{agnglﬁmg -

=aive _ ong

o
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IT1. TransitionalArrangement

On or after 3 March 2014
Shares in company have no
For existing companies;
CArz ;];:::ﬁin;ng of thf.: commencement date of 5,135
formts want s (z}r:epiny ] shaf-e premium account and, capita]
ompany’s share capital (Cap.622: Schedr

Ordinance Transition, i
al and Saving Provigi
*  Any amount that would be re od by 2 comp )

par value/nominal value (s.135)

anY amoung

quired by a continuing Provision t

Se t- i
clion 2 of the Compames ()rdinance (Cap 622)' (ﬂ) 1€
L & ans

company’s share capital; and (b) i
i : f :
stock, includes stocc (b) ifany of the company’s shares ig ¢

* Interest of g shareholder in
* If a holder of a share has
gimited liability concept)
* Personal property which ; i
‘association' (s?lSrfly cor?f;irl:'lsl Sﬂ:ir]zzi;eemble el e 0
m aecordance to articles)
*  May be issued either for cash or in k
companies)
—eg a sole proprietor of 3 business may fi
Sp;zfer;e(tj;)r?hlp’s asset into that companj):/ i(rjzntnuli ;zzclalij:?ny fa‘tl];d :
Doy Salomon v Salomon & Co Lid 18961 MR 1) | T
al property — can transfer subject to articles .

thfa Company in money term
paid full subscription monies, his lighi}

pany’s «
8 are personal property and z’uir : '

inds (i.e. assets, services o shares of

What is a Debenture?

* Section 2 of the Co i
mpanies Ordinance
bonds and any other securities of g iy
assets of the company or not
* A debenture is an
: y document ackn ing i
—— i i owledging indebtedness issued by a compa
*  The company ackn A )
owledges that it is indeb
) ted to the
' II:’Iay be. secured by fixed or floating charge vihele
5 promises to pzliy that principal sum on a specifi
& agrees to pay interest on specified dates at a g
€ company makes no profit ’
May be secured by fixed or Noating charge

g g iS edby he Dmpa |
I\‘Iay ]’e W1 ]I art ] t“) exchange I(? Shﬂ!es Ssu (4] y m 1ufllle

nder for a specified

ed day or on such an eatli
ecified rate, even out of ca

s .
MSS with a d

A
*

ne month a

o form fo
- as practicable, and

: es’ s e . . .
This helps to protect mvestors in mves

on of del _
deed will be entered into and trustee

4 [eCEIVE]

vorrowed cap
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fer the allotment of debentures (including debenture stock), a

must deliver to the Companies Registrar a return of the allotment in the

r registration (s.316)
in any event within two months after an allotment of

ompany must register the allotnient in the register of debenture
ting debentures and align the

benture holders with that of members (s.317)
will be appointed to look after the

of the debenture holders when a series of debentures is issued to a large

er of subscribers

comp
hoth the debentures an

any does not perform its obligations under the debentures or the trust
d trust deeds may give the holders the power to appoint

r to enforce their securities, i.e. debentures

piure Stock

ital - with separate bond or debenture - consolidated into one
chenture stock certitficate for the sake of convenience

A portion of one large loan, can be transferable in fractional amounts

" Called debenture stock if loan secured by a mortgage or charge
. (alled loan stock/unsecured loan stock
Bonds vs Securities

. Bond — debenture issued under the seal (optional) of the company
_  an instrument of indebtedness of bond issuer to the holders

a form of loan or iou

Securities —
— refer to any type of right, whether by way of recourse to property or assets

(legal (fixed) charge/equitable (floating) charge) or by way of recourse
against another person (guarantee) which supports the basic obligation of a

borrower to repay borrowings; and

— means any type of share, stock or bond issued by a company

Share Capital

+ The following concepts relating to share capital have repealed on 3 March

2014, the commencement date of the Companies Ordinance (Cap.622)
— Nominal/Authorised capital

o The amount of capital with which a company is registered with the
Registrar of Companies. It is the maximum amount of capital which
a company can raise through shares. Hence companies usually are
registered with such authorised capital which is well above their
current needs of financing so that the company is not necessary to raise
the share capital in future, for example, the authorised capital of the
company is HK$2,000,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 ordinary
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. ; . der
i 1l be credited to share capital un
oceeds of a share issue wi : : i ‘
. fr: ime and becomes the company’s share capxtal..Thebn?’(:i(;?l cc))f
e nzwr fid capital will continue to be relevant ever after the aboli nof
. 10 epand it would then also reflect the amount in the share .prerr; um
k. Vant I’t will represent the amount the company actually receives
B i ibution
i holders as capital contribution. . | _
A Sharicept of paid up capital, issued capital and part])f pald_ sharef;dazfr:
1 Thf; cOllevan‘[ But they will be related to the total conmdericmon pai
o e . .
stil fd to be paid for the shares issued, and not tied to par value. o
Elgwfellustrative example regarding application of r}o-par regime 15(.1 2 e 31.
Theéﬁect on financial statements for accounting period ending
014. '
Ma;Ehinmited is a Hong Kong incorporated company. Itsfaic(:)cotz)un;mg
- i i d share capital o share
ce date is 31 March. It has issue .
reifg:enar value of HK$1 each. It has a share premium a‘,c-cour;rt of
I‘ZK$E§OOO anda cépital redemption reserve of HK$400 arising from
i i ious years.
redemption of some shares in previ
21:1' the ygar ended 31 March 2014, there are no ltga;loggs It;o tllslz
& but it earns profits of H .Tta
number of issued shares
recorded retained earnings of HK$800 at 31 March 2013.

shares, that means the par value of ordinary share g
the share capital of the company
~  Share issued at a discount
¢ Under common law, a company may not issye shareg atg
" Ooregum Gold Mining Co of India v Roper [1 892] A¢
* The directors (with the shareholders’ approval)
issue of preference shares on the basis thyg
of £1 nominal value should be automatjcally
paid, leaving an actual liability of only 25p. This
bona fide thought to be the best way of raising .
for the company, especially since the ordinary
a great discount to the market value, An ordinary g
challenged the validity of this issue \
Held that it was beyond the power of the comp
shares at a discount, and as a result, the preference. :
were liable for the ful] nominal amount of shareg
*  Re First Technology International (HK) Lid (unrep., HOpMp
2005, 18 November 2005 (CFL)
* A petition was made to court to seek iis approy,
company to issue shares at a 60, discount, Issye of
a discount was the only way the company coyld Taise |
funds. Potential investors had been found but they

X Limited’s Statement of Position Equity Section

a 60% discount being an estimated market value of the 31 March
Held that the petition was granted. In the petition, the coun,
given a proper explanation as to why the company pre., 2014 BOeS
capital by issuing shares at a discount, how the dis:a. HKS$ HK$
af and whether there would be Propet protectism for ctey 400 1000
*  Ashareissued at a price below its face value. For eaample, ' ital (1000 shares issued and fully paid) 9
par of HK$1 might be issued to an mvestor £or HK$0.7. A g : - 8600
could not be issued at a discount unless cenizin conditions ha _ 400
— Share Premium Account
° A share premium account is usually found on the balance sk 1 1500 800
is the account to which the amount of money paid (or promised e 10700 10200
pﬁ’id) by a shareholder for a share is credited to, only if the sh

paid more than the cost of the share, for example, a company i

allot shares at a price of HK$3 per share while the value of the X Limited’s Statement of Changes in Equity

(net asset value) is HK$2.5 per share, then a premium of HKS$0. : X Total
share should be credited to the share premium account of the ¢ — Share Capital redemption l:;’f;lafi:: eq(:lity
*  ‘No-par regime’ adopted . i reserve
~ The Companies Ordinance (Cap.622) adopts a mandatory system o capital | premium HKS HKS$ HKS

for all local companies having a share capital and retires the conee HK§$ HKS$ . 10200

value for all shares. The par value of shares is the minimum price at - 1000 8000 400 50

shares can generally be issued. Since par value does not serve ifs o

purpose of protecting creditors and shareholders as it does not nec 0 (3000) (400) - -

give an indication of the real value of the shares. Further, this is 840

with international trends to provide companies with greater flexibilit ; (Continued)

structuring their share capital and creates an environment with greaterch
and simplicity and is more desirable for the business community generaiy:
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“}"':M issu6 " G .

' i’ﬂl issue of additional shares to sharcholders instead of a dividend, in
R portion to the shares already held

otment of shares (o founder members of a company at the time of new

Balance at
31 March 2014 2
tment of shares pursuant to options and convertible securities that have

eady approved by shareholders

‘56(1)(3) requires a listed company to obtain its shareholders’ prior

al for any allotment, issue or grant by it of any shares, convertible

ties or options, warrants or similar rights to subscribe for any shares or

Hible securities. No shareholders’ approval is required in the following
nstances:

Rights issue/open offer, where a company offers new shares to its existing

j.,ghgreholders on a pro rata basis (except increase the issued share capital or

‘merxet capitalisation by more than 50% under LR7.19(6)(a) and 7.24(5));

7eeral mandate, where the existing shareholders have by an ordinary

gesolution granted a general mandate to the directors to allot shares or grant

any offers or options which would require the issue, allotment or disposal of

shares during the continuance of such mandate.

N general mandate may only continue in force until:

» (i) the end of the first annual general meeting after it has been

granted, at which time it lapses unless renewed; or

= (i) itis revoked or varied by ordinary resolution in general meeting

Most articles of g5
burpose of raising
When 3 company

Propertional g
Pre-

i i gi i
13 ve ”le d HQ
[ F:) 10n H'eCtOrS the pOWer EO Isﬂ g
-IJ ]. | 295 S

al ownership in ¢
€mption right/pre e

10 acquire pey, shares
Prevent thejr shareholgd
hCompam'es Ordinange
as been obtaine
d, the b
Dower of the Company t0'0ard "
-(?) allot shares; ang ‘

onal shares, it d

Mpany {1t
~emptive ¢lay, Pl

before they
ings from p
58.140 and |

iluteg EXisting

. I]Ot SubSCJ l‘hé ﬂ’ﬁ
se “
gIVCS the CUHellt Sh&rehgl"
Widere

are
: oﬁ‘ered to the other ; 3
cing diluteq T

41 provide that

: unles
Iréctors of 4 co i ShafﬂhOi

Mpany Mmust ng,

LR13.36(2)(b) provides that the number of securities that can be allotted under
4 general mandate must not exceed 20% of the existing issued share capital of
the company.
— For example, the existing issued share capital is 100,000,000 shares, then
the company can issue not more than 20,000,000 shares when such general
mandate is granted by the sharcholders at AGM
Besides, listed companies are allowed to issue shares (other than rights issue)
that have been bought back as long as they do not exceed 10% of the company’s
existing issued share capital.
— For example, the current issued shares of the company is 100,000,000 shares,
then the company can buy back maximum of 10,000,000 shares when such
general mandate is approved by the shareholders at the AGM
'+ Aseparate ordinary resolution to add the buy-back shares to the general mandate
must be passed and the directors have the authority to issue shares up to a
maximum of 20% of the issued shares including in the general mandate (which
followin g circ includes the reissue of the cancelled buy-back shares).

: umstances: l i ; — if the cancelled buy-back shares are 10,000,000 shares, then the maximum

- arights jssye 1der (h ! Ay >WULEGL i

of 20% of the issued shares can be allotted including such 10,000,000
shares
When the above general mandate is granted, directors of the company can issue
and allot shares within such threshold to potential shareholders and investors and
buy back the shares of the company and do not require a fresh approval from
shareholders at a general meeting
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X. Return of Allotment

* Companies Ordinance (Cap.622) 5.142 —in case of:
— any ‘shares allotted for consideration (whether who]
consideration or non-cash consideration), or el 3
- any- sh.ares allotted credited as fully paid up (wheth
caplFahzation), the following documents must be fil e
Reglzt)ry within one month after the allotment: fod W
° () aretun of allotment (specified Form :
e (ii) a statement of capital whether there isiiﬁiﬁéﬁgyp‘endlx
8 at the date of allotment that complies with s QOIIFS e
e (iii) for any shares allotted for consideration (wh' )
cash consideration or non-cash consideration):-

* (a) must state the amount paid or regarded as paid on
each gf

the amount (if any) remainj i
T eaih a :rl; maining unpaid or regardeq as
* (b) inthecase ofan allotment wholly or partly for non-c h
undtl:r anarrangement made under Division 2 of Panaf ;
.partlculars ofthe order of the Court sanctioning the -3
(¢) in ay other case of an allotment wholly or aI ¥y
consideration, must contain particulars of the Eontic??

for services or other i ion i
consideration in respec vhicl
were allotted Pt ST

° (4) forany shares allotted credited as fully paid up (whether 0N o1
01

a capitalization):-
(g) must state the amount regarded as paid on each sh: d
(b) musf ucontam particulars of the resolution aﬁti}an l

capitalization or allotment 4

XI. Kinds of Share Capital Referred to
Companies Ordinance (Cap.622)

« Issued capita..'l ST ey

. issued the shares to the shareholders)
*  Paid-up capital &2 B4
= .thaf part of issued capital that has been paid up by the shareholders
includes all the money/consideration paid-up on such sha 1
*  Uncalled capital 4 5 o

— that part of the issued capital that the sharcholders have not yet been

upon to pay, which can call it up at any time according to the provisions

: the arti_cles of association or shareholders’ agreernent
ssued capital can be comprised of paid-up capital and uncalled capital

Na

ether Whally 4

Ehg the company has issued shares of 10000 ordinary shares in whi
shares have been paid up and 5000 shares are not yet paid up and WG I
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d to pay up after the shareholders have executed application for shares
pmitted the application to the company for re gistration

os, issued capital can be called as outstanding capital

- oses for Having Different Classes of Share Capital
ent investmert objectives

[mmediate requirement — daily operation

. Assign heavy voting right of particular class of share capital to facilitate

the daily operation
_ Long term development — future needs
", Set up different classes of share capital to enlarge the shareholders’ base
7o+ future development
2e-off financing purpose —a particular transaction
. Restructuring of the company by creating different classes of shares

@- Law requirements — maintain minimum share capital

O . Maintain the certain class of share capital at a minimum amount as
& stipulated in the company’s articles of association

* — [ncentive purpose

OO « Employee share options provided to particular types of employees

S . Different classes of share capital issued subject to the provisions of articles of
association/shareholders’ agreements

Classes of Share Capital

+ Ordinary shares (most common)
— Rights of ordinary shares are set out in articles of association

o They carry one vole per share: vote at general meetings (able to control
the company through votes on establishing corporate objectives and
policy, electing directors)

> are entitled to participate equally in dividends: vote on dividends (if the
company makes a profit and declares dividends)

s if the company is wound up, share in the proceeds of the company’s
assets after all the debts have been paid: entitled to repayment of
their capital after the company has paid its creditors and preference

shareholders when winding up (surplus asset)

* Preference shares
— entitled to some preference or priority over other shares in the company

— rights of preference shares are set out in articles of association, or the terms
of issue of shares
o to preferential treatment when dividends are declared
s usual preferential/priority term is to be entitled to a fixed rate of
dividend out of distributable profits (as determined by $5.290 and 291
of the Companies Ordinance (Cap.622)) of the company, to be paid in
priority to other classes of shareholders
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€.g. a company issues 5% preference shares of HK$5 cag
preference shareholders HK$0.5 per share in the form of
each year out of profits before it pays dividends to other g
have a preferential right to a fixed amount of divideng
a percentage of the value of the share, e.g. a HKS$1, 794
share will carry a dividend of HK$0.07 each year
= Itis, however, still a dividend and payable only oyt of profi
preference share may be participating, in which case it pa
profits beyond the fixed dividend under some formula

are often non-voting (or non-voting except when their diy
arrears)

are sometimes redeemable

may be given a priority on return of capital on a winding up, Offe
will not be entitled to share in surplus capital |
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. there is a resolution to wind up the company, prefe:renfae shares have
a priority in the repayment of capital if the company 1s vtfound up
« there is a resolution which is likely to affect their class rights

_  Rights on winding-up

If a company is liquidated, its non-cash g.ssets will be sold: Tl_le s'ale

proceeds will then first applied in paying t}}e cost gf hquu_:latlon

and creditors. The surplus will then be used in returning capital to

shareholders. Anything left will be called as surplus assets

. Unless articles of associations give such a right 'to the preference
shareholders, only ordinary sharcholders are entitled to share the
surplus assets, if any, in the event of liquidation . -

- once a preference in respect of capital repaym_en.t is stated, it is prima

facie exhaustive. Certainly a preference as to dividends does not imply

o

Y it lus or vice versa
= preference as to capital surp .

«_ The most common limitation on preference shares is that the ho_lders
of those shares are entitled only to the return of the amount paid up
on such shares. This limitation leaves the common shareholders (who
have probably assumed more risk in the enterprise) to reap the rewards

i iati ’s net assets
of capital appreciation of the company’s n
o Scottish Insurance Corporation Ltd v Wilsons and Clyde Coal Co Ltd

Several classes of preference shares
— Cumulative preference shares

° Webb v Earle [1875] LR 20 Eq 556, it was held that al] prefer
are presumed to be cumulative unless otherwise described, ¢, 3
dividends are to be made up in subsequent years when profits are 4
if no dividend is declared in any year, the arrears are carried
and must be paid in a subsequent year before ordinary shar

[1949] AC 462 e
receive any dividend = Held that the preference shareholders. were not entitled to
* Eg. 10% preference shares received dividends of 2% in 20 participate in the surplus assets as “the rights inter se of preference

3% in 2015. They would then be entitled to 25% (8+7+'10}-m

and ordinary shareholders must depend on the tEl‘HTlS of instrument
which contains the bargain that they have made with thel company
and each other. The articles of association are exhaustive of the
rights of the preference shareholders in a winding up

— Participating preference shares
e Theright to participate further in profits, rights issue an/c: bonugiss
¢ If such a right is given, the preference shareholdess +\.e. in add

preferential dividends) can participate in any protit remaining :
ordinary shareholders have received their skare of dividend
In other words, articles of association ma y give such right to pa;
in surplus profits up to a given %
ThE courts, when interpreting share rights, also seem to have
presumption that once a special entitlement has been establishe
memorandum or articles, it is prima facie exhaustive of that particul
type of right
o Will v United Lankat Plantations Co [1914] AC 11 (HL).
*  Held that if a class of preferred shares is established having
to the prior payment of a dividend of 10% of the amount p
the share, that is taken to be an exhaustive statement of the d
entitlement of the class, so that the holders of those shares are lif

|

Priority as to repayment of capital
o after the company’s debts and liabilities and any arrears of preference
dividends have been paid, the preference sharek-lolders are entitled to
repayment of their capital in full before the ordinary sharcholders are
id their capital .
2 ﬁglfss such f right is given, preference shareholders and‘ ()ljdjnfﬂ'y
shareholders rank equally in repayment of capital in the event of liquidation

Right to redeem shares ‘ ‘
o Ifsuch arights is given, the preference shareholders will be repald by the
company their investment in the company on or before a specified date

Right to convert shares . .
> entitled to convert all or part of their shares of another class during a

to 10% and do not participate further in the profits of the comp:

= Voting rights _
® Unless otherwise articles of association provided, prel
shareholders are entitled to vote only:

* Their dividends are in arrears, i.e. when they have not been pé
their dividends

specified period at a specific price (i.e. convertible shares)

* Redeemable shares .
—  Redeemable means can be bought back by the company at the option of the
company or the shareholder .
~ May not be redeemed unless they are fully paid (s.268)
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Section 257(2) — May be redeemed out of distribut.
company or out of proceeds of a fresh issue of shares m
of redemption (for both listed and non-listed compani
(for non-listed companies only and listed com
stock market are redeemable) (s.257(3)

3b]ﬂ p!-
ade forthﬁ.

es) or out
panies not on g

itors v members
Cre%tolress otherwise provided in the debenture or the debenture trust deed,
n .

debenture holders do not have right to attend and vote at general meetings
e

the company .
giareholders are metmbers of the company are entitled to atte,nd a1_1d vot(;
eral meetings unless otherwise provided in the company’s articles o

*  Warrants/options
— Warrant — a right given to its holder to subscribe fo
shares at a specific price during a specified period,
exercise price and the price of the shares

A listed company may not issue warrants that would
issued capital of the company
Life of new warrants — from 1 to 5 years

in gen
; ciation
T a certaip Humk asso

holder hag Debenture interest v dividends

payment of debenture interests and redemption of debentures are n;t

gditional on the company making a profit. They are payable by the
0gmpany on or before the due date as stated in the debenture or debenture
¢

exceed 2(9

- deed o
22;111;‘[ of dividends is only possible when there are distributable profits.

~eneral, articles of association provided that the pa.yment must be
y Doved i;y the company in either directors meeting, like approval of
R0° . - ~ o
Q: tf:rim dividends, or a general meeting, like approval of final dividends

Deferred or founders’ or management shares

— That bears a restriction that no dividends can be paid to holdﬁg;~ ;
ordinary shareholders are paid a specified rate of dividends -

Issued to founders/vendors of a business a considerati

business

Entitled to a generous proportion of all profits remaining after

shareholders have been paid

Usually carry heavy voting power

To save stamp duty and to facilitate the takeover of a company,

on for py
of investment ‘ -
Reu;rzbject to exceptions, such as share buy—'back,- reduction of capital, a
company is not allowed to return share capital to its shareholders
\b — A company however have to repay the principal to the debenture holders

w.‘;., O on or before the due date as specified in the debenture or debenture trust
shares may be converted into deferred shares, in that case, such defelm.;% deed
may carry no voting right and/or have no right to receive dividends e

— Not common in HK » Tax deductibility

_  Debenture interests are chargeable against the profit and loss.account, 11(11
other words, debenture interests can be deducted as an expense in the books
, fits can be reduced
of account, hence taxable pro .
_  Dividends constitute appropriation of profits, taxable profits cannot be

reduced as a result

* Non-voting ordinary shares

— Holders of which are not entitled to vote at general
company
Note: Non-voting deferred shares for the flgawtion of comp
arrangement of initial public offering, the orcinary shares being Iy
founders of a business who want to go listiog will have to restrue
shareholding structures, their ordinary shares will be converted
VOTING DEFERRED SHARES of the company by special resolul
Shares on which no dividend is paid until other classes of shares
received a minimum dividend and also have no voting right

meetings

i iscount
Issue at a premium or at a dis . _
—  Debenture can be issued at a premium or at a discount and there are no

statutory restrictions on the application of the debenture premium and the
rate of commission payable to debenture hol}(]iirgg
i Mi 190412 C
—  Mosely v Koffyfontein Mines Ltd | ' ' |
° HeJljd tha’gjj:)nveﬁible debentures cannot be issued at a discount on terms
that they may be immediately exchanges for shares of the egulyalent
nominal value, for this would be only an indirect way of achieving an
issue of shares at a discount .
—  Shares can be issued at a premium. However, shares can only b.e issued ata
discount subject to relevant restrictions of the Companies Ordinance

XIV. Difference Between Shares and Debentures

Companies having a share capital may raise funds by issuing shares and debei

* Regulatory framework
~ The relationship between a company and its members is governed b

provisions of the company’s articles of association and the Con

Ordinance

The telationship between a company and its debenture holders is go

by the terms specified in the debenture or the debenture trust deed

* Priority of payment . o
= Int);asepof liquidation, the right to receive repayment of the principal and
aécrued debenture interests depends on the terms of issue of the debentures

or debenture trust deed
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XV. Fact.ors (E?onsidered to Raise Funds by Either
Equity Financing or Debt Financing

* Inview of the company
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tethods of Raising Capital

Holde'r of secured debentures will rank prior to uns

1}1{1 t[i(lie return of principal and accrued interests
olders of the unsecured debentur i

the oo ntures will rank ag Unsecureg e

After all the debts have been settled in full, the shareholg

to a return of capital at last o cas

ecured vuf-f

. By issue of shares

_ Pprivate company
. inviting existing shareholders to inject funds, borrowing funds from
banks of financial institutions

_ Ppublic company
official listing on the stock exchange i.e. initial public offering

o

Main Board Listing or Growth Enterprise
Market Board Listing

Cost of issue
¢ cost of issue of debentures is lower than that of issue of
debenture interests are tax deductible while dividends c.: > ’
as an expense in the books of account; hence, the taxatr)]]nmh#
1s_sumg- company will be higher when the company issu f;pm
conSIdc_aratlon of the company’s profitability and cash flow i it
° avoid the risk of receivership and liquidation, the issuinposmw
make sure that there are sufficient recurring profit and cashgt e
mteres.t arlld to repay principal if debt financing is preferre?i-p
f,nancmg is chosen because dividends are only paid out of di t;l b
(ifany), and must be recommended by the board of direc‘[oS ]Et l
u ;1]0 blilr.den of maintaining sufficient cash flow and guarantezs:jf T
: ﬁnsgr]iizr;z; costs during difficult financial periods can increase
° no obligation to repay the capital unless redeemable ch e s
hence funds can be kept by the company T
whether-' the_re is enough amount of assets that can be offered as
° the issuing company must ensure that the e 21¢ assets (e SF.
o plant and machinery) that can be offered a- security under d;élrat k
However', a chalrge on a company’s assets may restrict the
Eeecbm in dealing with the asset charged
p Eﬂzz?;];ny needs to be offered to subscribers of shares
Gearing ratio
° Debt financing increases gearing ratio of the company, which repres
a weaker financial position of the company »E
g QHLZ‘:E;] ge;aring thratiohprovides a cushion and is seen as a meas
strength, whi i i i
ot o i - ich gives better reputation and confid
Desire to maintain control of the company
° Curr.et{t shareholders, in particular the controlling shareholders a
unwilling to share ownership of the company with the new i
then debt financing should be chosen "

Offer for subscription vs offer for sale
7 %¢: for subscription — if a company itself offers the shares/debentures to

e public, any person who acquires shares/debentures directly from the
company is known as subscriber
Offer for sale — if the offer of shares/debentures to the public is made by

an existing shareholder and not by the company itself, the person who
acquires the shares/debentures is known as purchaser

« Purpose of a Prospectus HEER)

The main requirement to invite public to subscribe for shares and
debentures is to issue a prospectus (5.2 of Cap.32, the Companies

(Winding-Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance)

o (a) subject to paragraph (b), means any prospectus, notice, circular,

brochure, advertisement, or other document-

(i) offering any shares in or debentures of a company (including
a company incorporated outside Hong Kong, and whether
or not it has established a place of business in Hong Kong)
to the public for subscription or purchase for cash or other

consideration; or

(ii) calculated to invite offers by the public to subscribe for or
purchase for cash or other consideration any shares in or
debentures of a company (including a company incorporated
outside Hong Kong, and whether or not it has established a
place of business in Hong Kong);

> (b) does not include any prospectus, notice, circular, brochure,

advertisement, or other document-
(i) to the extent that it is a publication falling within s.38B(2)

of Companies (Winding-Up and Miscellaneous Provisions)

Ordinance); or
= (ii) totheextent that it contains or relates to an offer specified in Part

1 of the Seventeenth Schedule as read with the other Parts of
that Schedule of Companies (Winding-Up and Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance); (Replaced 30 of 2004 5.2)




464 CHAPTER 5

— Content of a prospectus
° has to i i i i
s o (i:rcl):ntam all the information that is required to be g,
* {(a) Part | of the Third Schedule to the Compan;
and _Misce]laneous Provisions) Ordinanzameﬁ
specified in Part 11 of that Schedule :;d ;
contained in Part III of the Schedule: , '
= (b) Appendix I of the Main Board/G;owth E;
Listing Rules (if the company wishes to hav n‘ e
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kon g Liln'te ltg g
= (c) Section 342 under the Companies : e.t‘.l);
Misce[laneous Provisions) Ordinance) 3
° Summa.rlze information and present them to investorg:
= applicant must be suitable for listing: fmancs‘.'l
management experience, track records, business 1ra :
* issue/marketing of securities is conducted in a faip / : 1
and that potential investors are given sufﬁcieni o
fanab]e them to make a properly informed assess -
° Major Contents of a prospectus A
= Risk factors
= Corporate information
* Industry/business overview
*  Qualification of Directors/Senior Management
* Share Capital/Substantial shareholders )

property valuation report
= Future plans |
= Uses of proceeds
*  Structure and conditions ofth
¢ offers—pricepa naf
over-subscription, timetable Shl
= Underwriting
" Summ:.n’y of the company’s articles of association or mem
and articles of association or bye-law |
In summary,
+ the overall financial conditions for the past 3 years
board) and at the latest practicable date of issuing pros

The shareholding structure before and after the o
subscription

* The directors and management structure of the company
ange or ¢

* Other information as requested by the Stock Exch:
. regulatory authority
Registration of a prospectus
- Bv?;o? Issue, prospectus must be registered: s.38D of the Con
) th eLnsthgIr-Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (C.ap.3.2‘)u
ock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited is responsible for th

and authorization of .
Exchange ot prospectuses for securities to be listed on

Financial Information — accountants’ report, piott fon
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1f complies with Company (Winding-up and Miscellaneous Provisions)
Stock Exchange will issue an authorization certificate together

Qrdinance,
d by the issuer to Companies Registration

with other documents submitte
for registration:

share application form
sent letter of any expert named in the prospectus, €.g. auditor,

> con
property valuer
certified copies of material contracts referred to in the prospectus,

e.g. underwriting agreement
authorization certificate issued by the Stock Exchange

Civil and Criminal Liabilities for Misstatements in
prospectus under the Companies (Winding-Up and
Miscclianeous Provisions) Ordinance

“riminal liability for misstatements

Section 40A of Companies (Winding-Up and Miscellaneous Provisions)
Ordinance (Cap.32)
« includes atly untrue statement in prospectus, amy person who
authorised the issue is liable to imprisonment and a fine unless he/
she proves either that the statement was immaterial, or that he/she
had reasonable grounds to believe up to the time of the issue of the
prospectus that the statement was true 5.40A imposes a criminal
liability for misstatements in relation to prospectuses issued by a
company incorporated in Hong Kong.
Where a breach of s40A of Companies (Winding-Up and
Miscellaneous Provisions) has been proved on indictment, a fine of
up to HK$700,000 and three years’ imprisonment may be imposed.
Where the matter is tried summarily, a fine of up to HK$150,000 and
12 months’ imprisonment may be imposed.
— Section 107 of Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap.571) SFO
s a person commits a criminal offence if he makes any fraudulent/
reckless misrepresentation for the purpose of inducing another person
(a) to enter into or offer to enter into, an agreement to acquire, dispose
of, subscribe for or underwrite securities; or a regulated investment
agreement; or (b) to acquire an interest in or participate in, or offer to
acquire an interest in or participate in, a collective investment scheme
— Section 277 of Securities and Futures Ordinance (Disclosure of false
or misleading information inducing transactions), s.298 of Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Offence of disclosure of false or misleading
information inducing transactions)

o Section 298 of Securities and Futures Ordinance is the basis for
criminal sanction, and its equivalent civil sanction is set out ins.277
of Securities and Futures Ordinance

¢ Under 5277 and 298 of the SFO, liability arises where a person
discloses, circulates or disseminates, or authorises or is concerned
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*  Civil liability under the Companies Ordinance

~ Section40(1) of Companies (Windin, i e\
g-Up and Miscellan, i
Ordinance (Cap.32) _ W

o

m the disclosure, circulation or dissemination of fajse OF Il
information which is likely to induce subscription, saler 8
of securities or dealing in futures or increase, reduyce m? .
stabilize price, and the person knows that, or is reck[es; o
(for civil proceedings only) as to whether, it is false or m(?r]n
SFO 5.384 provides that it is an offence for any person ol
compliance with a statutory requirement to provide the S,;: i g
F L'ltures Commission or the Stock Exchange of Hong Kgnurm'
w1t.h information that is false or misleading in a materig] ;
This offence may be prosecuted by the Securitieg ”'
Conlunission in the Magistrates Court or by the Depart
fl ustu.:e on indictment. The maximum penalty on indictmen m 5
tmprisonment and a fine of HK$1 million 1
ngdliir;rgiﬁ case was the [PO prolspectus gf Hantex Inte, |
pany Ltd (Hantex), which was listed on the Hop
Stock Exchange on Christmas Eve 2009. Hantex acknowleg :
Ft had been reckless in allowing materially false and m >
information to be included in its prospectus. The result of yi;
proceeds from this [PO had to he returned by court order folloy
Hantex’ acknowledgement that it had contravened 5.298 of the | /
&

where a prospectus invites persons to subscribe for shawes o
debentures of a company, the following persons shal; b liable “
pay co.mpensation to all persons who on the faith (i the prosp
subscribe for any shares or debentures and wha siuiter loss ordﬁm
by reason of an untrue statement included therein: i
* (a) director of the company at the tim= of issue of the prospecls
= (b) who has authorised himself/herse! 4o be named and is nam

indt-he prospectus as a director or as having agreed to become

a director either immediately or i ime
" (¢) apromoter of the company Yo e e
* (d) who has authorised the issue of prospectus
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> (b) that the prospectus was issued without his/her knowledge or
consent, and that on becoming aware of its issue he/she gave
reasonable public notice that it was issued without his/her
knowledge or consent
o (c) that, after the issue of the prospectus and before allotment,
he/she, on becoming aware of any untrue statement, withdrew
consent and gave reasonable public notice of the withdrawal and
of the reason for it
o (d) that
= (i) as regards every untrue statement, he/she had reasonable
grounds to believe, and did believe up to the time of the
allotment of the shares/debentures, that the statement was true;
= (i) as regards every untrue statement by an expert or contained
in a copy of a report or valuation of an expert, it fairly
represented the statement, or was a correct and fair copy of
the report of valuation;
= (i) as regards every unfrue statement by an official person,
or contained in a copy of or extract from a public official
document, it was a correct and fair representation of the
statement or copy of or extract from the document

Misrepresentation

— Definition: consists in a false statement of existing or past fact made
by one party (the misrepresentor) before or at the time of making the
contract, which is addressed to the other party (the misrepresentee) and
which induces the other party to enter into the contract

— Requirements of liability: (i) a false statement of fact; (ii) false statement
of fact must have been addressed by the representor to the party misled;
that is, the representee; (iii) false statement of fact has induced the
plaintiff to enter into the contract

Fraudulent misrepresentation

— Derryv Peek (1889) LR 14 App Cas 337 — Peck sued the directors in tort
for deceit, but the court held that present reasons had led the directors to
make the untrue statement and thus, Peek’s action failed

Sect.ion 40 of Companies (Winding-Up and Miscellaneous Proy

Qrdmance (Cap.32) shall extend to a non-Hong Kong company if
ISSL.led, circulated or distributed in Hong Kong (5.342E) of Com 2
(Winding-Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap.32) |

— Remedies —either affirm the contract and bring an action for damages for
deceit or rescind the contract and sue for damages for any loss suffered

* Negligent misrepresentation
— A person who has been induced to enter into contract as a result of a
negligent (careless) misrepresentation made by other party
— Remedies — either rescind the contract or sue for damages under the

Misrepresentation Ordinance (Cap.284)

* Defences against civil liability under 5.40(1) of Companies (Winding-Up
and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap.32) 1
= Sect_ion 40(2) of Companies (Winding-Up and Miscellancous Provisio

Ordinance (Cap.32) — no person is liable under s.40(1) of Con

(Winding-Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap.32) ifhe

or she proves any of following: |

° (a) that, having consented to become a director, he/she withdrew
consent before the issue of the prospectus, and that is was i
without his/her authority or consent

* Innocent misrepresentation
— Neither a fraudulent nor a negligent misrepresentation
— Remedies — misled party has no right to damages, only remedy is
rescission, the court has a discretion to award damages instead of
rescission under s.3(2) of the Misrepresentation Ordinance (Cap.284)




CHAPTER 8

ACCOUNTS AND AUDIT, ANNUAL
AND CONTINUING COMPLIANCE

inting and Auditing Requirements

cial year beginning before 3 March 2014 (date of commencement of the
ies Ordinance (Cap.622) (“CO™) and ending after 3 March 2014 should
y the provisions of the predecessor Companies Ordinance on the preparation
ents of the financial statements as well as their circulation and adoption in
general meeting (AGM).

cini ciatements for the year ending 31 March 2015 will follow the provisions
Ccmpanies Ordinance.

sors should lay statement of profit or loss/income statement and statement of
1 position or consolidated financial statements before AGM (ss.429 to 431
Companies Ordinance) according to the requirement as stipulated in s.610
unless the company is not required to hold AGM if:

Everything that is required to be done at the meeting is done by a written
resolution and copies of documents required to be laid at the meeting are
provided to each member on or before the circulation date of the written
resolution. (i.e. pass a written resolution in lieu of AGM, the provision provided
~ under the predecessor Companies Ordinance) or in accordance with 5.610 of
- the CO under the following conditions:

« company has only one member; or
o all of the following are satisfied (s.613):

« company has passed a resolution by all members to dispense with the

holding of AGM

= company has not revoked the resolution or the company has revoked the

resolution but is not required to hold AGM in respect of a financial year
that would be required to be held within 3 months after the resolution
ceases to have effect

« no member of the company has required the holding of the AGM under

5.613(5)
Companies may dispense with the holding of AGMs by unanimous shareholders’
consent. The company is required to deliver a copy of the resolution to the Registrar
of Companies within 15 days after it has been passed
 Company may revoke the resolution to dispense with holding the AGM by passing
an ordinary resolution (s.614(1}))
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II. Timing for Companies Laying the Accounts For public

company: Within
42 days after
30 June 2016

For public
company: Within
42 days after

31 March 2016

For public
company: Within -
42 days after

30 September 2015

fUI delivery

1 ]
*  Accounts should be made up not more than 6 months for listed/public com,  first annud

not more than 9 months for private company/company limited by guaran
the end of'the accounting reference period™* ! by reference to which the f;
year is to be determined (5.610(1)) '

e first financial

nts under For guarantee For guarantee For guarantee

— Note 1: An accounting reference period is the period by reference 1o yht
the company’s annual financial statements are to be prepared, The
last days of the first accounting reference period“*** determine the,
first financial year under the Companies Ordinance (s.367). Every sub
accounting reference period of a company is a period of 12 months bepin
immediately after the end of the previous accounting reference nernd
ending on its accounting reference date, unless the accounting ref
period is shortened or extended by alteration of the accounting refereng

(5.368(3)).

— In short, accounting reference period is the reporting period covered by

financial statement

— Sections 368 and 370 of the CO require the accounting reference peri

be 12 months generally

— Section 369(6) of the CO requires that accounting reference period of the fi . » company is a public company or a guarantee company, the annual return
set audited financial statements to be within 18 months after incorporatior

— Section 371(5) of the CO stipulates that the change of accounting refe
period cannot extend the accounting reference period to be longer than |8 mo;

— Inconclusion, the statutory audited financial statements cannot cover a £

more than 18 months

° Note 2: The first accounting reference period is determined as ‘!
* For an existing company, it begins on the day immediawc'y fol
its primary accounting reference date and ends on the first anniy

of that date (s.368(1)). Examples as below:

3

On the basis that the Companies Ordinan~¢ «ame into ope;
3 March 2014 and the accounts of the <cimpanies have been pi
under the predecessor Companies Ordinance in the circumstar

described in 55.369(1) to 369(4).

Companies
ce for

company: Within
42 days after
30 September 2016

company: Within
42 days after 30
June 2016

company: Within
42 days after
31 December 2015

period

instead.

companied by certified true copies of financial statements, directors’ report and
1’s report should be delivered for registration within 42 days from the date of
general meeting pursuant to ss.107 and 109 of the predecessor Companies
nce. (Schedule 11 s.121 of the CO)

¢ financial statements covering the first “accounting reference period”
st financial year:

are the first financial statements required to be prepared under the Companies
linance.

the company is a public company or a guarantee compary, the annual
maccompanied by certified true copies of financial statements, directors’®

r the company’s return date. The return date is 6 months (for a public company) or
hs (for a guarantee company) after the end of the company’s accounting

and auditor’s report should be delivered for registration within 42 days

Company X Company Y CompanyZ tence period.
End date of annual | On 31 March each | On 30 September On 31 December rivate companies:
financial statements | year h ' : ; :

: | ¥ it ) each JEU = cal private companies, there is no change in the requirement to deliver annual
Primary Accounting | 31 March 2014 30 September 2014 | 31 December 2014 . A private company should deliver the annual return for registration within
Reference Date s after the anniversary of the date of the company’s incorporation.

First Accounting 1 April 2014 to 1 October 2014 to | 1 January 2015 ¢ )

Reference Period
{First Financial
Year)

31 March 2015

30 September 2015

31 December 2013 o For a company formed and registered under the Companies Ordinance,

first accounting reference period begins on its incorporation date and ends

S340006060000R0RtRtR R8RS

on its primary accounting reference date® (5.368(2)) '

&

1115 nonns
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o

Note 3: “Pﬁmary accounting reference date” is the end 4 t
or f‘“manc.:tal statements by reference to which the first ac . Of-the i
perlf)d, ie. the first financial year, of a company 1 dCDuntmg-
Ordinance is determined (5.368) Y o
*  Bxisting company
* For an existing company, the prima i
the 'date up to which the complzmy’s ?c:gft:;: tfl:rgt:fermce :
beginning before the commencement of the G "

« . Oompani ;
(“the relevant financial year”) are made, if the acsorl;;etz h
ve

laid before the company in general meeting und -
pred.ecessor Companies Ordinance or provided to theer .
section 111(6) of the predecessor Companies Ordin i
the commencement date of the Companies Ordinan - Og
369(2) and 369(3)). ol
* If'the accounts for the relevant financial year have not b
or prcwfided to members. the primary accounting refe i
determxlnt‘:d as follows, pursuant (o ss.3 69(1)(b) 369(2;&105
- (a) itis the end date of the accounts for the rélevant ﬁmd 369(
that have been prepared on or before the date bm:;n@
c(:)orrclil_pany is required by s.111{1) of the predecessoz Co:nch
inan i
369(2));05 to hold a general meeting (ss.369(1)(b3(j_ :
- (b) if (a) does not apply, it is the first anniversary of the epa."
of the accounts for the financial year immediately n::f
the relevant financial year that have been prem‘; %l
before the date by which the company is requim:h? b “& iﬁm
of the predecessor Companies Ordinance ho]‘ds:,-l i,
meeting for the financial year immediotery prece&ign ‘
relevant financial year (s5.369(1)(bj(ii) and 369(4): and 3
(c) in any other case, it is the drtc b - which the .t.::om |
is r'equired by s.111(1) of ‘the predecessor Cﬁmp::g
Ordinance to hold a general meeting (s.369(1)(b)Gii),
& You can refer to the above table to find the examples of pnm -
accounting reference dates. 4
Company registered under the Companies Ordinance '
3 qu 4 company registered under the Companies Ordinance, the
primary accounting reference date is a date specified by the dlra’m
that .fa]ls within 18 months after its incorporation date, or if no dmeiﬁ;
spenlzlﬁed by the directors, the last date of the month in’ which the first
anniversary of the company’s incorporation falls (s5.369(5) to 369{3)}
- For example, the date of incorporation of X company ﬂ
5 Jl{ne 2014 (after the commencement date of the Compmﬁi
Ordinance) and if the directors specify the -accom.i. ~
reference date fallen within 18 months after 5 June 2014, like
31 December 2014, then this the primary accounting rﬂferm&
da_te. However, if no date is specified by the directors, then the
primary accounting reference date will be 30 June 2015

posi
financial performance of the company (or the

and
exemption which will be detailed as below.

« In
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, Failure of laying the financial statements before AGM, the offence:

Directors must lay financial statements ete. before AGM, otherwise, a fine of
$300,000; wilfully fails, imprisonment for 12 months on top of the fine (s.429(4))

content of Financial Statements

The annual financial statements must give a true and fair view of the financial

tion of the company (or the group) as at the end of the financial year; and the
group) for the financial year. The true

fair view requirement does not apply if the company falls within the reporting

[n general, the content of financial statements includes:

come Statement or Statement of Financial Performance or Profit and Loss
Accéuit or statement of comprehensive income, statement of revenue and

expeilse
Qatement of Movements in Equity or statement of retained earnings, reports on

the changes in equity of the company during the stated period

. Statement of Financial Position or Balance Sheet which reports on a company’s

assets, liabilities, and owners’ equity

. Statement of Cash Flows which reports on a company’s cash flow activities,
particularly its operating, investing and financing activities

« Statement of Financial Position

» Statement of Accounting Policies

. Notes to the Financial Statements describe each item on the statement of financial
position/balance sheet, income statement and cash flow statement in further detail

« TIndependent Auditor’s Report

Schedule 4 “Accounting Disclosures” of the Companies Ordinance (Cap.622) states
that financial statements must comply with:
« Part | of Schedule 4 if the company falls within the reporting exemption for the
financial year; or
« Parts 1 and 2 of Schedule 4 if the company does not fall within the reporting
exemption for the financial year
+ Under Part | of Schedule 4, the following should be required for companies
whether or not falling within the reporting exemption:
—  the aggregate amount of any outstanding loans made to eligible employees to
enable them to buy shares in the company under the authority of $5.280 and
281 of the CO during the financial year
—  the annual consolidated financial statements to contain, in the notes to
the statements, the holding company’s statement of financial position and
movement in the holding company’s reserves
~  The holding company’s statement of financial position is not required to
contain any notes. This statement of financial position must be in the format
in which this statement would have been prepared if the holding company
had not been required to prepare any consolidated financial statements
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— subsidiary’s financial statements to contain particulars of ultim
undertaking in the notes to the statements, i.e. the name of fhe Wtima
undertaking; its country of incorporation (if body corporate); ﬁnd' ;
of'its principal place of business (if not body corporate) +HE

— the financial statements to state whether they have been pren
accordance with the applicable accounting standards; and if
not been so prepared, the particulars of, and the reasons for
departure from those standards &

= The disclosure of auditor’s remuneration under Part 2 of Schedule 4 of g
required for companies not falling within the reporting exemption, §

— 'The financial statements must comply with the applicable

standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public A
the financial statements must contain all additional information ne
compliance with applicable accounting standards if it is insufficient
a true and fair view .
If co‘mpliance with the accounting standards would be inconsistent wit
requirement to give a true and fair view, the financial statements musf‘
to the extent necessary for it to give a true and fair view; and haye_b. co
the reasons for, and the particulars and effect of, the departure )
The company can follow the requirements of the relevant accounting
when departure from the Companies Ordinance with such statutory bag
¢ E.g. the requirement not to consolidate a subsidiary in the O
statements of an investment entity parent under the requireme ‘
HKFRS 10 B
* The reporting exemptions are set out in the following sections —
= Section 380(3) of the CO: (no requirement to disclose auditor’s ran'une
in financial statements). ‘
Section 380(7) of the CO: (no requirement for financial statenents to g
“true and fair view”). 4
— Section 381(2) of the CO: (subsidiary undertakings 12ay be excluded
consolidated financial statements in accordance wiih applicable accounting

on the date of the report;

affairs.

‘2ss keview in the directors’ report

the following criteria:

year; or

directors’ report relates
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ding 10 5390 of the Companies Ordinance, the directors’ report in general should

the principal activities of the company;
{he name of every person who was a director of the company during the financial
year; Of during the period beginning with the end of the financial year and ending |

matters relating to shares issued, management contracts, arrangements and other
contracts involving director’s interest or benefits, donations and;
any other matters which are material for appreciation of the state of the company’s

- “Jnder 5.388, all Hong Kong companies are required to prepare a business review in |
the directors’ report in order to comply with Schedule 5, except satisfy any one of ‘

ounL; formation required by s.390 also extends to any of the company’s subsidiary
ings if the directors’ report is prepared on a consolidated basis.

. requirements repacding the contents of a directors” report which could be referred to
1 provisions in"-l_uding 53.390, 470, 543 and Schedule 5 (on the inclusion of a business
Section 338 of the CO requires a directors’ report to contain the information and .
with o'lier requirements prescribed by regulations made under 5.452(3). \I\l

o Company falls within the reporting exemption under 8.359; or ‘
« Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of another body corporate in the financial \

o Company does not fall within the reporting exemption but pass a special !
resolution at least six months before the end of the financial year to which the

. Sections 359 to 366 and Schedule 3 set out the qualifying conditions for companies
to prepare simplified financial and directors’ reports:

standards).

—  Section 383(3)(a) of the CO: (no requirement to include business review i
directors’ report).

tions 359(1)(a)(i), 361,
le 3 ss.1(1), 1(2)):

359(2)(c)(i), 364, Schedule 3 ss.1(7),

(Sections 359(2)(a), 359(2)(b) and J
1(8) and 1(9)):

— Section 406(1)(b) of the CO: (no requirement for auditor to express a “tr
and fair view” opinion on the financial statements).

| private company is automatically

ed for simplified reporting if it
mall private company”, i.e. a
rivate company that satisfies any two

IV. Content of Directors’ Report
ithe following conditions —

company of a “group of small private
companies” and that satisfies any two of
the following conditions is automatically
qualified for simplified reporting —

A private company that is the holding :J

Financial statements accompany with directors’ report which is basically a report 0
company’s information that people may wish to know about but is not included in the

~ (i) total annual revenue™© ! of not
more than HK$100 million;

« (i) aggregate total annual revenue™™®'
of not more than HK$100 million;

accounts should also sent to the members of the company. Every copy of a di
report laid before a company in general meeting, or sent to a member or other
circulated, published or issued by the company, must state the name of the person

- (i1) total assets™* ! of not more than
HK$100 million;

«  (ii) aggregate total assets™™ ' of not
more than HK$100 million;

signed the report on the directors’ behalf pursuant to 5.391 of the Companies Ordin: ' {iii) no more than 100 employees™=2,

s (iii) no more than 100 employees™®°2,
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eliminated on consolidation level.

Note 1: The total revenue and total assets are determined based on the re
financial statements i.e. using the Small and Medium-sized Entity Finangj
Framework and Financial Reporting Standard (SME-FRS). Where the Tep
is shorter or longer than a year, the amount of total revenue for a ﬁﬂancial'yw
be calculated on a pro-rata basis as if the length of the financial year were | 2-
In respect of a group, the aggregate total annual revenue and aggregate fota] 5
calculated after eliminating intergroup transactions and balances. If 3 group m
records a revenue or amount due from other group members and the amount {
the size limit, the group will not be able to meet the size test even thege amoy;

levan(
al R
ortir

follows:

Note 2: According to Schedule 3, the number of employees is the average num|
persons employed by the company or the group during the reporting period (in
of whether in full-time or part-time employment) determined on a monthly '

(2) determine the number of employees as at the end of each calendar mon '
(b) add together all the monthly numbers;
(c) divide the total number by the number of months in the reporting period

In order to qualify for the reporting
exemption as a group of small private
companies:

In order to qualify for the reportini %
exemption as a group of eligible
companies: )

 each company in the group must
qualify as a small private company;
and

* cach company in the group must. Q
qualify as either a small private
company or an eligible private
company; and

* the aggregate amounts for the group in
total must not exceed 2 out of 3 of the
small size tests.

* the aggregate amouns for the
total must not exceed 2 out of 3
larger size tests.

(for eligible private company:

Sections 359(1)(c), 360(1), 362, Schedule 3
5.1(3) and 1(4);for group of eligible
private companies: Sections 359(2)(a),
359(2)(b) and 359(2)(c)(ii), 360(2), 365,
Schedule 3 s5.1(10), 1(11) and 1(12)):

(for a small guarantee company:
Sections 359(1)(a)(i), 363,
Schedule 3 ss.1(5) and 1(6); fora
of small guarantee companies:
Sections 359(3), 366, Schedule 3 5
and 1(14)):

An “eligible private company” or an
eligible private company that is the
holding company of a “group of eligible
private companies” that satisfies any
two of the following conditions and has
the approval of members holding at
least 75% of the voting rights™**? with
no other members objecting, is qualified
for simplified reporting —

A “small guarantee company” or
guarantee company that is the
company of a “group of small g
companies” is also automatically
qualified for simplified reporting if it
total annual revenue or aggrega
annual revenue (as the case ma
does not exceed HK$25 million.

o
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Tmfal (or aggregate total) annual
" revenue of not more than
HK$200 million;

i total (or aggregate total)

assets of ot more than

HK$200 million;

i) no more than 100 employees.

g

' The 75% vote is calculated as a

o of the entire shareholding of
. not simply as a percentage of
c;lders who attend the general
The resolution is defeated if any
objects either at the meeting or at
ime by giving notice in writing to the
, provided that the written notice
at lezst & months before the end
cial year to which the objection

_

% Eligibility for simplified reporting under old and new Companies Ordinance

Predecessor CO

Current CO

a. Public companies

b. Other private
companies/groups
and
companies/groups
limited by guarantee

a. Public companies

b. Other private
companies/groups
and
companies/groups limited by
guarantee

nies
ed to prepare

Section 141D private
companies

a. Larger “eligible” private
companies/groups with
shareholder approval

b. Small “eligible” private
companies or groups

¢. Small companies or
groups limited by
guarantee

d. Section 141D private
companies




660 CHAPTER 8§ ACCOUNTS AND AUDIT, ANNUAL AND CONTINUING COMPLIANCE 661

= the review should reflect the directors’ view of the business and be
with information which the directors use in managing the repg,
including the identification and management of operating g
strategic priorities of or within the reporting entity, the Mmanagem
the financial risk management strategies of the reporting entity apn
monitored by the directors
° (b) The scope of the review should be consistent with the scope of
statements
= should consider the company and all the subsidiaries as a whole, in
satisty the requirement of paragraph 4 of Schedule 5.
@ (c) The review should complement as well as supplement the fi
statements, in order to enhance the overall corporate disclosure
= provides useful financial and non-financial information about th
and its performance that is not reported in financial statements b
the directors’ judgement, may be relevant to the members’ eval
results and assessment of future prospects.
* provides additional explanations of amounts recorded in the fina
statements; and/or
* explains the conditions and events that shaped the information
the financial statements.
e (d) The review should be understandable
*  provides members with focused and relevant information on material
In considering materiality, directors are expected to focus on the
of the information to the assessment of financial performanee,'
adaptability and management’s discharge of its accountability/
responsibilities
= consider the evidence underpinning the information to be ivg
business review
*  should be written in a clear and readily understandable style
»  should be clear to the user how the KPI has been. scmuted and the
data used in that calculation )
* consider the extent to which the review is comparable with reviews.
by ather entities in the same industry or sector

narticulars of debentures issued (s.5A)
articulars of equity-linked agreement (s.6)
yidend recommended (s.7)
permitted indemnity provision in force (s.9)
sure of directors’ names
ion 390(1)(a) of the CO
. must contain the name of every person who was a director of the company either
: during the financial year or during the period beginning with the end of the
financial year and ending on the date of the directors’ report
. if the company is required to prepare a consolidated directors’ report (as per
$.388(2)), then 5.390(3) states that 5.390 has effect as if a reference to “the
company” in 5.390(1) or 5.390(2) were a reference to “the company and the
subsidiary undertakings” included in the annual consolidated financial statements
for the financial year, the names of any persons who were or are directors of any
company in the group included in the consolidated financial statements need to be
disclose in the holding company’s consolidated directors’ report
The names of directors of all subsidiary undertakings included in the annual
_ensolidated financial statements may be disclosed on a consolidated basis,
without further setting out specifically the directorship of each individual
subsidiary undertaking ‘
if a person is a director of more than one company in the group his or her name
may be disclosed once in the list of names
&+ If, in the opinion of the directors of the holding company, the number of names
of directors of all subsidiary undertakings is of excessive length, disclosure of the
names of such directors may be made by way of inclusion by reference, provided
that the information on the relevant directors’ names is clearly contained in the
holding company’s Directors’ Report by making the list of such names readily
available to the reader. Or this may be disclosed by providing a link to the holding
company’s website that contains a full list of the names
ation on equity-linked agreements [ 554§ 1777% entered into by the company
of Cap.622D Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation
agreement that will or may result in the company issuing shares; or
- an agreement requiring the company to enter into the agreement specified in an
° (¢) The review should be balanced and neutral, dealing even-h ement that will or may result in the company issuing shares; and
both good and bad aspects ffcludes:
= retains balance and that members are not misled as a result of the = an option to subscribe for shares;
focus on favourable information or the omission of any significani
on unfavourable aspects _
= KPIs should be selected with due regard to their relevance to the de
performance or position of the reporting entity’s business without ur
on whether they show the business in a favourable or unfavourable
= The balanced and neutral presentation of a business review is
when KPIs and other information in the review are prepared and
consistently from one year to the next
» Cap.622D Companies (Directors’ Report) Regulation
— Particulars of shares issued (s.5)

—

* an agreement for the issue of securities that are convertible into, or entitle the

holder to subscribe for, shares in the company;

* an employee share scheme; and

° ashare option scheme; but

does not include:

° an agreement to subscribe for shares in a company that is entered into pursuant to

the company’s offer of its shares to the public; and

° an agreement to subscribe for shares in a company that is entered into pursuant to

an offer made to the members of the company in proportion to their shareholdings |




662 CHAPTER §

* asummary of reasons relating to the affairs i
resignefl or refused to stand for re-election a?iltz{;: ‘;:i‘fzi“‘i’ﬁtlt\fen by.a‘ dire
specifying that the resignation or refusal is due to reasons re]e? e
c}:)mpany l?y 8.8(1) of Calp.622D Companies (Directors’ Rep()rt&) LRng . fhe
the new disclosure requirement regarding permitted indemnj EEH.IEfu Y
prow'ded under s.470 of the Companies Ordinance such t;y i
ccnstltutt? andoffence by 5.9 of Cap.622D Companies (Directorsé’l;{zqn-cu :
— permitted indemnity provisio HEEF IR TR A% 30, | .
means a provision gatp— " CRFNTOAL): g
o provi - . s o g g g
zthirge;afg;lgssmmty against liability incurred by a director of the o
°  meets the requirements specified in 5.469(2) of the Compan; iti
. ‘(sh)ould not provide any indemnity against: e
* (a) any liability of the director to pay— (i i 4
procee'dings; or (i) a sum payable bI)J/ )\;fay (c:i" : piiilﬂn?ﬁsgd. |
comphapce with any requirement of a regulatory naturez 4
" (b) any liability incurred by the director— (i) in defendin, =c: - inal pro
in which the director is convicted; (ii) in defending civﬁ nmmﬂl
Py ﬂ.le company, or an associated company of the.compan)}:r;:: Win '-';‘-;
1s given against the director; (iii) in defending civil ;_;uroc:eed' eh
behalf of the company by a member of the company 6r 1]?@ .
company of the company, in which Jjudgment is given a. : &U "
(1v) in defending civil proceedings brought on behalfofan agal'ns't o
of the. company by a member of the associated company or Shsocmaj-”
assr?mated company of the associated company, in which _3’;“1,
against the director; or (v) in connection with all applicati(J)n Eﬁ 31“
8.358 of the predecessor Companies Ordinance or 5,903 or J‘m% :
which the Court refuses to grant the director relief : S
scope of directors” material interests disclosures
— Scope widened

Port) Rey
ation to

Sredecessor co Current CO \
Directors’ report L Directors’ report : 4

“Contracts of
significance

in relation to
company’s business”

Transaction, arrangement or contract involves company’s
parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary [Note 1]

Notes to the financial statements
Transaction, arrangement or contract involves company

Note 1: Material interests i i
2 of directors in a transaction, arr:
ests of , drrangement or co il
;c? mpany that is significant to the company’s busim:s;%y riactof omE
“C;[)he casedtf pubhc.c_om;?any — it includes individual or entity “connected” with a director
Note 2 1 nﬁs::te - deﬁr'utzon is broader than HKAS24 Related Party Transaction
+ Wiy not necessary increase the amount of audit worl as already covered in the scope of H 2

3 rCO Current CO

“.'haSVG If in the auditor’s opinion, the directors’ report is inconsistent
with financial statements:
!Elty to » must disclose in auditor’s report
- auditor « may choose to bring to members’ attention at general meeting
' report For full financial statements to give a “True and Fair view” must

.Q

sitors’ Responsibilities

\ppointment of Auditors
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comply with:

+ most recently effective HKFRS (issued by HKICPA)
« disclosure requirements of CO; and

» iflisted, HK Stock Exchange Listing Rules

If “True and Fair” is overrode, companies must:

« include extrainformation in financial statements if compliance
with new CO or accounting standards would be insufficient to
give a true and fair view

. disclose reasons for and particulars and effects of the departure
from the CO or accounting standards in financial statements
if compliance with such would be inconsistent with true and

fair view

Directors may appoint the company’s first auditors at any time before first AGM
(5395)

Every company should at each AGM appoint/re-appoint an auditor to hold office
from the conclusion of that meeting until the conclusion of the company’s next
AGM (5.396) :

If a company is not required to hold an AGM under s.612:

— the appointment/re-appointment of auditors is done by a written resolution
— auditor deemed to be reappointed under 5.403

May appoint an individual, a corporate practice (limited company) or a firm
(partnership) as auditor

Qualifications and Disqualifications for Appointment

* Must be qualified under Professional Accountants Ordinance (Cap.50) and
hold a practicing certificate usually granted to a Hong Kong resident .
* Independent from the company which appoints him/her

— not an officer or servant of the co
~ not a partner of, or an employee, or an officer/servant of the company

~  for listed company, the above restrictions extend to those in the subsidiary
ot holding company of that company |
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VIIL. Protection to the Auditors

IX. Appointment and Removal of Auditor Prior to Ex

Resignation of Auditors

Remuneration of an auditor appointed
shareholders in AGM/GM (5.404(1))
Remuneration of an auditor appointed by the
directors or shareholders in AGM/GM (5.404(2))
* Removal of auditor before the expiration of his/her term of -
shareholders’ ordinary resolution in general meeting (s.4] 9(1))

~ special notice is required for an ordinary resolution Proposed f
auditors (s.419(2)) for

— Form NAI Notice of Removal of Auditor (Appendix 8A) should |
to Companies Registrar within 15 days (s.419(4)) T
Auditors may attend the general meetings relating to the above

by the members may

directors may pg-

piration
Term of Office under the Listing Rules

* New Listing Rules 13.88 (w.e.f. 1 Jan 12) require
appoint an auditor and to remove an auditor befo
office

An issuer is required to send a circular proposing the removal of
shareholders with any written representations from the auditor, not |
10 business days before the general meeting
An issuer must allow the auditor to attend
and/or verbal representations to sharehold

shareholderg’ @
re the end of hjs

the general meeting and m e wej
ers at the general meeting

Section 417 — Anditor may resi
resignation at registered office
The notice should contain a Statement either there are or no eircum:

connected with resignation that the auditor considers should be brought to |
notice of the members or creditors of the company

The notice should be signed by the resigning auditor
The company should send the notice to members, debenture holders

gn from office by dchoziting a written

entitled to receive it if the notice contains facts that should be brought to the noti

of members and the creditors p
The company must file a Form NA2 Notification of Resignation of Audi
(Appendix 8B) with the Companies Registry within 15 days

Right to requisite a general meeting when he tenders his resignation, but
draw the attention of members to certain matters

A “statement of circumstances” defined in 5,392 of the Companies Ord
o mean a statement given under 5.424(a) or 5.425(1)(a), i.c., a statement
circumstances connected with the resignation or termination of appoin
(including removal, resignation or retirement) of an auditor who cons
such circumstances should be brought to the attention of the company’s
or creditors should be given to members of the company

i‘eql-ﬁrf”d t
cf;ﬂfﬁiﬁsgi s a statement to the company under 5.424(b) or 5.425(1)(b) that
;h.ere are i
@poi;lt:ge‘?r creditors, there is no requirement to deliver such statement to the
?:;st:ar of Companies for registration.
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i ces is also
ditor who has given the company a statement of circumstan
The au

o deliver a copy of the statement to the Registrar for registra;tmn in the
d within the period, mentioned in s5.426(5) and 427(5)

o circumstances connected with his or her resignation or termination c:f
. : s
t as an auditor that should be brought to the attention of the company

Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s Report must state

ial
hether in his/her opinion, the company’s balance sheet/statement of fn;?:ctlz o
1 eition and income statement/statement of profit or loss has been prep
- i ies Ordinance; and
liance with the Companies 3 1 .
c{;;nil‘;'t o wue and fair view of the state of the company’s atfairs. (s.406)
€. oL

Rasic Elements of an Auditor’s Report

. Atitle — Independent Auditor’s Report

The auditor’s report should have a title that clearly indicates that it is the
eport of an independent auditor ‘ _ _
Addrrel;sing to members of the Reporting Entity, place of incorporation for the
reporting entity needed to be stated

. introductory paragraph: . _ . o
éﬂ ltrilxeoﬁnancgl statements have been audited and what accounting principles

have been adopted, usually they will be generally accepted in Hong dK;ragé
e.g. Statements of Auditing Standards issued by HKJCPA and Appen
of the Listing Rules (applicable to listed compantes only)
s Respective responsibilities of directors aund a-iud1t0rs -
+ The basis of auditor’s opinion e.g. exammatxonton alltes; ;31: b view of
ini i ial statements give :
+ QOpinion of auditor e.g. the financial
th?:tate of affairs of the company and have prepared properly prepared in
accordance with Companies Ordinance. -
— examples of an unqualified auditor’s report are set out as below:

Auditor’s Report for an Entity Other than a Listed Entity Incorporated in Hong

i ith Hon:
Kong and where the Financial Statements are Prepared in Accordance wit g

Kong Small and Medium-Sized Entity Financial Reporting Standard.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of SME Limiter]l . -
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion o ) s
i Limited (“the Company
; ited the financial statements of SME ; y’

':ﬁ[let gz\sa;;lsd ted {o ......, which comprise the statement of financial position as

at 31 December 20X1, and the income statement [and cash flow statement] for




